WOOM

FILED SID J. WHITE

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FEB 22 1993 SLERK, SUPREME COURT.

By Chief Deputy Clerk

NATHANIEL H. THOMAS, Petitioner,)))
vs.) }
STATE OF FLORIDA,	Supreme Court Case No. 80,624
Respondent.))

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

M.A. LUCAS
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0658286
112 Orange Ave., Ste. A
DAYTONA BEACH, FL 32114
(904) 252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner was charged by an information filed on March 5, 1991 charging Petitioner with Possession of a firearm by a convicted felon in violation of Section 790.23, Florida Statutes. (R 53)

Petitioner filed a motion to suppress the evidence illegally seized from his home because the officers violated the Florida's knock and announce statute when executing the warrant. (R 28-31) The motion asserted (1) the affidavit was insufficient to support probable cause; (2) the warrant was not served in a timely fashion; (3) the officers who executed the warrant violated the knock and announce statute in doing so. (R 28-31) A hearing was held on the motion to suppress on July 22, 1991 before the Honorable Belvin Perry, Jr., Circuit Court Judge of the Ninth Judicial Circuit in and for Osceola County, Florida. (R 1-27) The trial court granted the motion to suppress the firearm seized from Petitioner's residence, finding that the

affidavit presented to the magistrate was sufficient, but that the Kissimmee police officers had violated the knock and announce statute. (R 40, 26)

The state appealed to the Fifth District Court of Appeal, arguing that the trial court erred in granting Petitioner's motion to suppress the evidence of the firearm. The state argued that according to the Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision in State v. Bell, 564 So.2d 1235 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990), that when there are small amounts of contraband readily disposable in a residential sink or toilet, that the no knock raid was permissible. Petitioner asked the Fifth District Court of Appeal to reconsider its opinion in Bell based upon a direct conflict with the Second District Court of Appeal's case of State v.

Bamber, 592 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991).

On September 11, 1992, the Fifth District Court of Appeal reversed the trial court's order granting the motion to suppress while acknowledging conflict with the Second District Court of Appeal's case of <u>State v. Bamber</u>, 592 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991).

Notice to Invoke this Honorable Court's Discretionary

Jurisdiction was filed in the Fifth District Court of Appeal on

October 12, 1992. A Jurisdictional Brief was filed with this

The trial court made no findings concerning the timeliness of the execution of the warrant; the warrant was issued on February 4, 1991 and executed on February 8, 1991. See Section 933.05, Florida Statutes (1989); Spera v. State, 467 So.2d 329 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985). The state filed notice of appeal on July 30, 1991. (R 41)

court on October 22, 1992. This Honorable Court accepted jurisdiction on December 23, 1992. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

At the hearing on the motion to suppress, Officer Russell Barnes of the Kissimmee Police Department testified that he was involved in an investigation of Petitioner selling cocaine from his residence. (R 8-9) Officer Barnes said that there had been two purchases of crack cocaine by a confidential informant at the residence, each involving no more than fifty dollar quantities. He testified that small amounts of crack cocaine can be (R 8) easily disposed of in normal plumbing fixtures. (R 9) Officer Barnes testified that he believed that the utility records were checked before the warrant was obtained and that the residence had normal plumbing facilities. (R 9) He testified that Petitioner's house was on the west side of Pearson Street and that there was another house across the street from him on the east side. (R 11)

The first of the two police initiated purchases of cocaine from Petitioner was made during the week before the warrant was issued. (R 11) The second of those two purchases was made at 7:56 p.m. on February 8, 1991, one hour and thirty-four minutes before the warrant was executed. (R 22) However, before the warrant was executed Petitioner had left the house and no one was home at the time the officers entered the house. (R 12)

The trial court found that as the officers forced down the front door of Petitioner's residence with a battering ram, that the officers announced their presence. (R 25-26) A video

tape was made of the officers executing the warrant. (R 4-5)

The affidavit for the search warrant stated that on February 1, 1991, a confidential informant was searched, given fifty dollars, and sent to purchase cocaine from Petitioner's residence. Apparently after the purchase was made, the officers supervising in the buy recovered three pieces of crack cocaine from the informant. A search warrant was issued on February 4, 1991 for the residence based on that information. However, the search warrant was not executed until February 8, 1991, after the second purchase was made. (R 8, 22)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Fifth District Court of Appeal erred in reversing the trial court's order granting Petitioner's motion to suppress where the officers violated Florida's knock and announce statute when executing the warrant. The Fifth District Court of Appeal held that they disagreed with the holding of the Second District Court of Appeal in State v. Bamber, 592 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991). The Fifth District Court of Appeal stated that they intend to continue following their decision in State v. Bell, 564 So. 2d 1235 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990), where the Court held that if there are small quantities of contraband it is likely that the evidence would be destroyed and therefore the officers can violate the knock and announce statute. Petitioner maintains the Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision in Bell must be reversed because this is such a large exception it will completely overshadow Florida's knock and announce rule. Thus, this Court should follow the well-reasoned opinion of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in State v. Bamber.

Assuming arguendo, that this Court upholds the Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision finding that although the officers violated Florida's knock and announce statute, the facts presented here justify an exception. The evidence seized from Petitioner's home should still be suppressed. The search warrant was based on an affidavit which failed to establish probable cause. The officers unreasonably relied on this warrant and the evidence seized must be suppressed.

ARGUMENT

THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL ERRED IN REVERSING THE TRIAL COURT'S ORDER GRANTING PETITIONER'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS.

In <u>Earman v. State</u>, 265 So.2d 695, (Fla. 1972), this Honorable Court reversed the appellate court's order denying defendant's motion to suppress. This Court held that the appellate court was not justified in concluding that the exception to the knock and announce rule applied as a matter of law where the record was completely devoid of testimony by the police officers or other competent evidence showing they had reasons to fear at the time of entry the destruction of evidence. This Court stated:

Essential to such proof in this case is testimony by the arresting officers or other competent evidence that they had reasonable grounds to believe the marijuana within the house would be immediately destroyed if they announced their presence. Absent such evidence, the fruits of any search conducted pursuant to such arrest must be considered illegally obtained.

Id. at 697.

However, the Fifth District Court of Appeal in <u>State v.</u>
<u>Bell</u>, 564 So.2d 1235 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990), held that "Since the contraband sought was maintained by defendant Bell in quantities readily disposable in a residential sink or toilet, the no-knock raid was permissible." <u>Id</u>. at 1237.

Recently, in <u>State v. Bamber</u>, 17 FLW D 55 (Fla. 2d DCA December 20, 1991), the Second District Court of Appeal recog-

nized express conflict with <u>Bell</u>, <u>supra</u> and <u>Armenteros v. State</u>, 554 So.2d 574 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1989). In <u>Bamber</u>, the informant told the deputy that the defendant had retrieved cocaine from an area near a bathroom and that he had a Rotweiler dog in the residence. However, the Second District Court of Appeal, in a well-reasoned opinion refused to accept the rule as announced in <u>Bell</u>. The court stated that:

Addressing the merits of the rule announced in Armenteros and Bell, we are not convinced that the existence of normal plumbing in one's home dispenses with the need to knock and announce during the execution of a warrant to search for small quantities of cocaine. Plumbing is required in virtually any home that complies with applicable building codes. Many warrants involve searches for small items which in theory could be flushed down a toilet. flushable items and plumbing are allowed to create an exigent set of circumstances, then the exception will begin to overshadow the rule.

In this case, the police did not provide a case-specific explanation that reasonably caused them to believe that Mr. Bamber's household was likely to destroy evidence. There clearly are facts and circumstances under which the police can reasonably decide, at the time they serve a warrant, that a household presented an unusual risk concerning the destruction of evidence. Such circumstances are not presented in this case.

Id. at 56.

In the instant case, the trial court was obviously troubled by the Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision in Bell, stating that:

The thing that concerns me about Bell...

is that in every case where there is a "small amount of drugs, be it crack cocaine or marijuana, then the no knock provision of the Florida Statute need not be complied with".

I really don't think Bell is saying that or the Third District Court of Appeal's case is saying that and...but in this particular case, Officer Barnes did testify that he had no articulable facts in this particular case that would lead him to believe that the destruction of evidence would occur, except that in all cases of user type quantities, that is a possibility.

(R 24-25)

The trial court attempted to distinguish this case from Bell because of the amount of time that had transpired from the last sale of cocaine and the execution of the warrant. (R 26)The trial court after granting the motion to suppress, expressed a strong desire to have the Fifth District Court of Appeal clarify its opinion in Bell as to whether it really means that whenever there are "user quantity drugs" involved the officers need not comply with the knock and announce statute. (R 26) Fifth District Court of Appeal did clarify its opinion in Bell in the instant case by stating "Bell is still the law of this district and only requires that the officers believe that because of a small amount of contraband and the facilities available to the suspect, destruction is likely if immediate execution of the warrant is not effective". Id. at 1279. Petitioner maintains that such a broad exception to Florida's knock and announce statute cannot be tolerated.

In the instant case, there were no drugs found in the

residence. Petitioner was charged with possession of a firearm by a convicted felon. The officers possessed simply the knowledge that there was residential plumbing and a small quantity of cocaine had allegedly been purchased from Petitioner earlier.2 There was no evidence to indicate Petitioner had other drugs stored in his home. Even assuming there were facts to show Petitioner maintained drugs at his residence, there was no evidence to indicate that Petitioner kept this flushable quantity of cocaine near a toilet or a sink. There was no evidence to indicate that if the officers knocked and announced Petitioner would have time to dispose of this quantity or that Petitioner would attempt to dispose of it. Furthermore, Petitioner was not even at the residence when the officers failed to comply with the knock and announce provision. The police did not provide any case specific explanation that reasonably caused them to believe Petitioner would destroy evidence. Officer Barnes testified that he possessed only a general belief because of the quantity involved it might be destroyed. (R 13-14) Petitioner argues that this is insufficient to justify the officers failure to comply with the knock and announce statute and use a battering ram on an individual's home. Thus, Petitioner maintains that because the officers violated the statute, the Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision denying the motion to suppress must be reversed and the case remanded to the trial court to grant the

² Officer Barnes only believed that the officer who wrote the report had checked and found that the house had normal active plumbing. (R 9)

motion to suppress.

Even if this Honorable Court decides to follow the Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision in <u>Bell</u> allowing such an expansive exception to the knock and announce statute, none-theless this Court should reverse the Fifth District Court of Appeal's decision because the search warrant is invalid. The search warrant states that the affiant believed the following material facts to exist:

On February 1, 1991 a confidential reliable informant was given fifty dollars of departmental funds with the intent to purchase crack cocaine at a house at the dead end of Persons Street... The confidential reliable informant was searched for contraband prior to going to the house on Persons Street and nothing was located. Your affiant observed the confidential reliable informant enter and leave the house. The confidential reliable informant was met at a pre-arranged location and gave your affiant three pieces of rock like substance similar to crack cocaine... confidential reliable informant stated that he purchased the cocaine from a black male subject who identified himself as "Tony". (Supplemental Record 5, 6)

At the suppression hearing, the officer testified that there were two homes located at the dead end of Persons Street.

(R 11, 15) The search warrant is invalid for two reasons.

First, it does not adequately set forth the facts indicating which home at the dead end of Persons Street the confidential informant entered. Secondly, the confidential informant never told the officers that he purchased the cocaine in a particular house or any house for that matter. Further, there is nothing to

indicate that cocaine was maintained on the premises. Indeed, the officers did not find any type of narcotics after searching Petitioner's residence.

In <u>Illinois v. Gates</u>, 462 U.S. 213 (1983) the Supreme Court held that the task of the issuing magistrate is simply to make a practical, common sense decision whether, given all the circumstances set forth in the affidavit before him, there is a fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found in a particular place. The duty of a reviewing court is simply to ensure that the magistrate had a substantial basis for concluding that probable cause existed.

In <u>State v. Macolino</u>, 583 So.2d 705 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991), the Appellate Court while reversing the trial court's order suppressing the evidence found that there was substantial evidence in the affidavit to support the magistrates finding of probable cause. In that case however, the court stated that:

We further find that the factual basis for the probability that cocaine would be found on the premises was sufficient. The confidential informant had personally observed cocaine in the Appellee's house the week before the search was executed and knew that Appellee Anderson regularly stored and distributed cocaine from there. . . In addition, the informant escorted the affiant to the premises where he had seen the cocaine and informed her that it was the residence of Appellee Anderson.

Id. at 707.

The instant case can be easily distinguished from Macolino because the confidential informant never told the police that he knew Petitioner regularly stored cocaine in this house. From the face of the affidavit there is nothing to indicate that the confidential informant purchased the cocaine in this house. There is nothing to indicate that the police kept constant surveillance of the confidential informant, only that they met sometime later at a predetermined location. Thus, unlike the affidavit in Macolino, this affidavit is insufficient on its face. Because the affidavit is insufficient on its face by its complete failure to show probable cause it is entirely unreasonable for the officers to rely on such a warrant. Therefore, according to United States v. Leon, 468 U.S. 897, 104 S.Ct. 3405, 82 L.Ed.2d 677 (1984), the state is not entitled to rely on the good faith reliance. Thus, this Court must reverse the Fifth District Court's order denying Petitioner's motion to suppress.

PAGE(s) MISSING

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing cases, argument and authorities,
Petitioner respectfully requests that this Honorable Court
reverse the Fifth District Court of Appeal's order denying
Petitioner's motion to suppress.