WOOA

FILED OV

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MAR 15 1993

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By-Chief Deputy Clerk

NATHANIEL H. THOMAS,

Petitioner,

v.

Supreme Court Case No. 80,624

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA FIFTH DISTRICT

### MERITS BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

REBECCA ROARK WALL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar #618586 210 N. Palmetto Avenue Suite 447 Daytona Beach, FL 32114 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

#

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This court should dismiss this case, finding that review was improvidently granted. The facts show that the defendant was not even at home when the search warrant was served. Therefore, he could not possibly suffer any harm when the officers failed to knock and announce.

If the court chooses to examine the merits, however, this court should affirm the district court. The Fifth District Court of Appeal properly reversed the lower court's order granting the motion to suppress, basing its ruling on a well-established exception to the knock and announce requirement. When officers break into premises without knocking and announcing, each situation must be examined on a case by case basis, depending on the totality of the circumstances, to see if some exception to the statute applies. Among the original exceptions acknowledged by this court is the situation in which the officers have a "reasonable belief at the time of entry that the evidence would be destroyed if the police satisfied their statutory obligation to knock and announce."

This court should recognize that the totality of the circumstances analysis in knock and announce cases includes the officer's training and experience. Courts should include the officer's interpretation of the circumstances in determining whether there is a reasonably grounded suspicion that the evidence will be destroyed if the officers knock and announce. This will serve the ends of justice without destroying the goals of the knock and announce requirement.

#### ARGUMENT

THE FIFTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL APPLIED THE PROPER LAW WHEN IT REVERSED THE TRIAL COURT'S GRANTING OF THE MOTION TO SUPPRESS.

Initially, the State argues that this court should dismiss this case, finding that review was improvidently granted. The facts of this case show that the defendant was not home when the officers executed the search warrant. State v. Thomas, 604 So. 2d 1277 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992). Common sense readily admits that the defendant could not be harmed in any way by the officers' failure to knock and announce if he was not present. Indeed, the officers would have ultimately broken into the defendant's home because there was no one there to admit them.

When the premises which are the subject of a search warrant are unoccupied, there is no violation of the knock and announce requirement if the officers break in without knocking and announcing. Van Allen v. State, 454 So. 2d 49 (Fla. 4th DCA 1984). The Van Allen court recognized that "announcing to a non-occupant" would be "fruitless". Id. at 51. Furthermore, "the goals of knock and announce" are not harmed if the knock and announce requirement is waived for unoccupied premises. Id.

In the instant case, "the goals of knock and announce" certainly were not harmed when the officers broke into the defendant's home. Since the defendant himself suffered no harm, this court should find that he has no standing to now challenge the officers' failure to knock and announce. This court should then dismiss this cause.

However, should this court choose to review the matter with the purpose of resolving conflict, this court can and should find that the Fifth District Court of Appeal properly reversed the lower court's ruling. This court must assure that the ends of justice are met, for both the State and for individuals.

The Fifth District Court of Appeal properly reversed the lower court's order granting the motion to suppress, basing its ruling on a well-established exception to the knock and announce requirement. Florida Statutes very specifically delineate the requirements for acquiring and executing a search warrant. Chapter 933, Florida Statutes (1991). Included in that statute is the provision which allows officers to forcibly enter premises in order to execute that warrant. That section provides that when the officer has given "due notice of his authority and purpose" but is refused admittance, he may forcibly break into the premises. Section 933.09, Fla. Stat. (1991). This is commonly referred to as the "knock and announce" requirement.

Florida courts have established that there is no provision in the statute for issuing a "no knock" warrant -- that is, a warrant which precludes the need for the officers to knock and announce before breaking into the premises. State v. Price, 564 So. 2d 1239 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990); State v. Bamber, 592 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991). When officers break into premises without knocking and announcing, each situation must be examined on a case by case basis, depending on the totality of the circumstances, to see if some exception to the statute applies.

This very court, nearly thirty years ago, set out four possible exceptions which validate an officer's breaking and entering without knocking and announcing. Benefield v. State, 160 So. 2d 706 (Fla. 1964). While identifying those recognizable exceptions, this court made it clear that the list of exceptions was not exhaustive. The court stated that "[t]ime and experience will no doubt suggest other exceptions". Id. at 710. So, even then, this court realized that each situation may reveal some new exception, depending on the circumstances.

Among those original exceptions acknowledged by this court is the situation in which the officers have a "reasonable belief at the time of entry that the evidence would be destroyed if the police satisfied their statutory obligation to knock and announce." Bamber, supra p. 3, at 1131. This exigency has long been held to be an acceptable exception to the knock and announce requirement. State v. Kelly, 287 So. 2d 13 (Fla. 1973). Reviewing courts do not require officers to have absolute knowledge that the evidence will be destroyed -- only a "reasonably grounded suspicion that the quantity and nature of the contraband and the circumstances surrounding its possession are such as to make it readily disposable." (emphasis added) Berryman v. State, 368 So. 2d 893 (Fla. 4th DCA 1979).

The Fifth District and other courts have held that one of the circumstances which can provide a "reasonably grounded suspicion" that the evidence will be destroyed is the officer's knowledge that the premises which are the subject of the warrant have proper, working plumbing -- that is, the sinks and toilets

are in working order and that the premises are equipped with running water. State v. Bell, 564 So. 2d 1235 (Fla. 5th DCA 1990); Armenteros v. State, 554 So. 2d 574 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1989). However, no court has held that this fact alone is enough to provide the exigency necessary to override the knock and announce requirement.

The Fifth DCA, in the instant case, recognized several additional facts, articulated by the officer, which combined to provide the necessary exception. The officer testified that the defendant had sold small amounts of cocaine. *Id* at 1278. He had very good reason to believe that there was additional cocaine in the house. *Id*. The officer stated that the size of the cocaine rocks involved made it readily "eaten, flushed, crushed, or hidden". *Id*.

The court also looked to the officer's experience and training in determining whether the officer had a reasonably grounded suspicion that the evidence would be destroyed. The officer testified that his training and experience taught him that "drug dealers with small amounts of drugs will try to conceal or discard such drugs." Id.

Finally, based on his knowledge of the size and kind of drugs that the defendant kept and sold, and his training and experience, the officers checked to see if the defendant's house had normal working utilities. When the officers found that the house did have proper plumbing and utilities, combined with all of the other facts, they developed a "reasonably grounded suspicion" that the defendant would destroy the drugs if they

knocked and announced. The record before the district court certainly supported the appellate court's ruling.

This court should recognize that officers develop suspicions based on a multitude of things. While the officer sometimes refers to the various facts and factors as "gut feeling", the law and courts require that he be able to articulate those facts. But the facts are only relevant to the officer in light of his training and experience. If the courts exclude that aspect of the totality of the circumstances in knock and announce cases, it will bind the hands of law enforcement, effectively forcing them to always have absolute proof before they act in any matter.

The Second District Court of Appeal, in Bamber, supra p. 4, has held that the destruction of evidence exception to the knock and announce requirement can only be valid when the officers provide a "case-specific" explanation that caused the officers to be certain -- not just "the mere possibility" -- that the drugs would be destroyed. Id. at 1133. This would require the officers to either have some statement by the defendant that he would destroy the evidence or to actually see the defendant running to the bathroom before justifying breaking in the door. Unfortunately, the latter example would clearly be too late.

While the Second DCA was clearly concerned with the possibility that the exception would overshadow the rule, the Fifth DCA is likewise concerned that "the exception will be rendered meaningless". Thomas, supra p. 1, at 1279. This court can find the balance between the rule and the exception. The exception which allows courts to look to all of the

circumstances -- including the officers training and experience, and what the facts mean to him in light of that background -- would still be a narrow one. It would still apply only in those cases in which the suspected contraband is of such a nature or size as to be "readily disposable". And the officers would still have to make a showing, articulating their reasonably grounded suspicion, to support their failure to knock and announce.

Each and every case presents a new and distinct set of facts. This is partly because each officer will have his own individual insight into the outward facts presented by the case. Some officers simply are more experienced and better trained at interpreting those facts.

In State v. Price, supra p. 4, the Fifth DCA examined several factors which contributed to the ruling that the officers were justified in their failure to knock and announce. The court particularly acknowledged that each case requires the individual officers to make the decision on the spot as to whether to knock and announce or not. Id. at 1242. This necessarily requires officers to rely on their training and experience to make such a split-second decision, combined with the facts they have uncovered in the investigation.

In *Price*, the officers had made several controlled buys from the defendant. Each time, the amount was small. During one controlled buy, the informant had seen a gun. The officers also knew that the defendant's brother, who lived with the defendant, had a lengthy arrest history, including battery on officers. The officer determined, based on this information "and his experience

as a law enforcement officer", that it would be dangerous and ineffective to knock and announce. *Id.* at 1240.

The *Price* analysis is important because it acknowledges the significance of the officer's training and experience in making a showing of exigency. This court, likewise, should acknowledge the significance of the officer's subjective analysis of each knock and announce situation.

In the instant case, the officers utilized the objective facts that they discovered in the investigation — the controlled buys for very small amounts of crack cocaine and the fact that the defendant had the capability to very easily destroy or hide the drugs. They also used their training and experience to interpret those facts. All of that analysis combined to provide the reasonably grounded suspicion that the defendant would destroy the drugs if they knocked and announced.

The Fifth DCA applied the proper and correct law when it reached its ruling. The facts of the case support that ruling. This court should, therefore, affirm the Fifth District Court of Appeal.

#### CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments and authorities presented herein, the State respectfully prays this honorable court affirm the ruling of the Fifth District Court of Appeal.